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Appeal from the United States District Court for the Southern
S)luaggl ct of Florida. (No. 93-6133-CR-KLR), Kenneth L. Ryskanp,

Bef ore HATCHETT and BARKETT, Circuit Judges, and OAKES, Senior
Circuit Judge.

QAKES, Senior Circuit Judge:

This appeal is from a judgnment of conviction entered on
Cctober 24, 1994 by the United States District Court for the
Southern District of Florida, Kenneth L. Ryskanp, Judge, agai nst
t he appellant Paul Morris ("Mrris") for violation of 18 U S.C. 8§
1029(a)(4) (1988). On appeal, Morris argues that 8§ 1029(a)(4) does
not crimnalize the possession and sale of altered cellul ar phones
t hat access cellul ar services wi thout charge. He al so contests the
sentence he received as inproperly calculated under the Federal
Sentencing Cuidelines. W agree with Mrris that § 1029, as it
read at the tinme of Mrris's conviction, cannot be extended to
reach the conduct for which he was convi cted. Accordingly, we
rever se.

BACKGROUND

Morris was indicted in July 1993 under the Credit Card Fraud

Act, 18 U. S.C. 8§ 1029(a)(4) (1988), for selling a cellular phone to
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an undercover Secret Service agent. The phone had been altered so
that its electronic serial nunber ("ESN') could be reprogranmed
fromthe phone's keypad.

An ESN is an eight-digit nunmber that is programmed onto a
mcrochip in an individual phone and is designed to identify
permanently the instrunent just as a vehicle identification nunber
identifies an autonobile. A cel lular phone connects a call by
transmtting its ESN, its nobile identification nunber ("MN') (a
ten-digit nunber identifying the subscriber), and the nunber being
called to a nearby cell, which in turn transmts it through |oca
or long distance tel ephone lines. |If the call is local, the |ocal
carrier confirns that the ESNMN conbi nation corresponds to a
subscri ber's account.

In order to acconmodate |ong distance calls, local carriers
have "roaner"” agreenents with other carriers that permt custoners
to place calls fromoutside their |ocal service area. The |oca
carrier for the geographic area where the call originates relays
t he phone's ESNNM N conbi nation to a conputer clearing house which
subsequent |y verifies that the conbinati on matches a valid account.
If an ESNV M N conbination is not matched with an account, no
further service is allowed. Because the clearing houses cannot
instantly verify an ESNNM N conbi nati on, however, there exists a
wi ndow of time in which calls can be nade from the phone even if
t he conbination is invalid.

A cellular phone can be used to circunvent normal billing
procedures by "tunbling," or changing the ESNN M N conbi nation to

t ake advantage of this free-call window A "tunbling" cellular



phone is one in which the phone's original ESN m crochip has been
repl aced with one that allows the phone's ESN to be changed from
the keypad. Calls made from such phones are untraceabl e because
the ESN is not connected to any subscriber's account. The caller
can use a fictitious ESN until the clearing house recognizes the
ESNNM N conbination as invalid, and then repeat the process by
"re-tunbling” the ESN and M N to create a new conbi nation
The governnent indicted Morris in July 1993 for one count of
violating 18 U.S.C. § 1029(a)(4) ' by selling a tunbling cellular
phone conpl ete with instructions for reprogramm ng t he phone's ESN.
Followi ng a three-day trial at which Morris introduced no evi dence,
a jury found himguilty. The court sentenced Morris to 14 nonths
i mprisonnment in Cctober 1994.
DI SCUSSI ON
In this appeal, Mrris seeks reversal of the jury verdict on
the ground that 8 1029 did not crimnalize the use of tunbling
cellular phones at the tinme of his indictnent. Morris also
contends that the district court m sapplied the Federal Sentencing
GQuidelines in determning his sentence. W agree with Mrris that
8§ 1029(a)(4) does not apply in his case and therefore do not
address his sentencing argunents. W review the district court's

analysis of 8 1029's applicability de novo. James v. United

The indictment charged Morris with a "violation of Title
18, United States Code, Section 1029(a)(4) and 2." The parties
di sagree on the neaning of "and 2." W note, however, that the
jury was charged only on the elenents of 8§ 1029(a)(4) and the
judgrment entered by the district court reflects that Mrris was
found guilty only of a single violation of 8 1029(a)(4). W
therefore do not need to resolve any anbiguity in the | anguage of
t he indictnent.



States, 19 F.3d 1, 2 (11th Cr.1994) (per curian); United States
v. Hooshmand, 931 F.2d 725, 737 (11th G r.1991).
In 1993, 8§ 1029 read in pertinent part:
(a) Whoever —
(4) knowingly, and wth intent to defraud, produces,
traffics in, has control or custody of, or possesses
devi ce- maki ng equi prent ;

shall, if the offense affects interstate or forei gn comerce,
be puni shed as provided in subsection (c) of this section.

* * * * * *
(e) As used in this section—
(6) the term "device-nmaking equipnment” nmeans any
equi prent, nmechani sm or i npression designed or primarily
used for maki ng an access device or a counterfeit access
devi ce.
"Access device" is also defined by the statute:
(e)(1) the term "access device" neans any card, plate, code,
account nunber, or other neans of account access that can be
used, alone or in conjunction wi th another access device, to
obtai n noney, goods, services, or other thing of value, or
that can be used to initiate a transfer of funds (other than
a transfer originated solely by paper instrunent).
In 1994, Congress anended the statute to address specifically
tunbling cellular phones such as the one at issue here. See 18
U S. C §1029(a)(5) (1994) (crimnalizing use, production, sale, or
custody of "a tel ecomruni cations instrunment that has been nodified
or altered to obtain wunauthorized use of telecomunications
services."); see also H R Rep. No. 827, 103d Cong., 2d Sess. 31
(1994), reprinted in 1994 U S.C. C. A N 3489, 3511 ("[t]his section
anmends the counterfeit access device lawto crimnalize the use of
cellular phones that are altered ... to allow free riding on the
cel lul ar phone system™").

Morris argues that tunbling cellular phones cannot be



consi dered "devi ce-maki ng equi pment” within the definition of 18
US C 8 1029(e)(6) and that therefore his indictnent under §
1029(a)(4) cannot stand. He contends (1) that the phone did not
create an "access device" as defined under the statute because the
ESNVM N conbi nati ons generated by the phone did not access
identifiable accounts, and (2) that the phone is "designed and
primarily used" to make calls rather than to nake access devices as
required by the statute.

We agree with Morris's second argunent. The plain | anguage of
the statute necessitates that the equi pnent at issue be "designed
or primarily used for nmaking an access device." 8 1029(e)(6)
(enphasis added). Here, Mrris's phone was not primarily used to
generate ESNV M N conbi nations: it was used to make phone calls.
Only when one conbination was declared invalid, presunably after
t he phone had been used to place as many calls as possible in the
wi ndow of tine available, did the tunbling phone generate a new
ESNNM N conmbination. It is equally clear that the cellular phone
was not designed to generate invalid ESNNM N conbi nations, but
rather to permt nobile tel ephone calls.

Most  prosecutions for device-nmaking equipnment wunder 8§
1029(a)(4) concern credit card enbossers. See United States v.
Lee, 815 F.2d 971, 973 (4th Cir.1987); United States v. Mann, 811
F.2d 495, 496 (9th Cr.1987). Enbossers fit clearly into the
requi renents of the statute because the equi pnent actual |y produces
t he account - accessi ng device, nanely, the counterfeit credit card.
Here, it is the mcrochip in the cellular phone, not the phone

itself, which permts the owner to tunble ESNNM N conbi nations. It



strikes us, then, that the device-making equipnment in a tunbling
phone prosecution under 8§ 1029(a)(4) woul d have to be the equi pnent
used to create the mcrochip and not, as suggested by the
governnent here, the actual altered cellul ar phone.

The only two cases which discuss the applicability of 8
1029(a)(4) to tunbling cellular phones do not persuade us to reach
a result other than the one we are led to by a cormbonsense readi ng
of the statutory |anguage. In United States v. Ashe, 47 F.3d 770,
772 (6th CGr.), cert. denied, --- US ----, 116 S.C. 166, 133
L. Ed. 2d 108 (1995), Richard Ashe was charged with a violation of §
1029(a)(4) for trafficking in tunbling cellular phones. Finding
that § 1029 did reach Ashe's conduct, the Sixth Grcuit concluded
that tunbling cellular phones are access "devices that permt and
facilitate the theft of "air tinme,' " id. at 774, but did not
anal yze whether such a phone, in addition to being an access
devi ce, can be consi dered devi ce-maki ng equi pnment. The court then
affirmed Ashe's conviction under 8§ 1029(a)(4) w thout confronting
whet her the requirements of that section of the statute had been
met .

Simlarly, the Ninth Crcuit in United States v. Bailey, 41
F.3d 413 (9th G r.1994), cert. denied, --- US ----, 115 S. C
2563, 132 L.Ed.2d 815 (1995), found that m crochi ps which tunbl ed
ESNs were an access device for the purposes of 8§ 1029. Although
t he defendant in Bail ey was indicted both for trafficking in access
devices in violation of 8§ 1029(a)(1) and for possessing
devi ce-maki ng equi pnent in violation of 8§ 1029(a)(4), the court

confined its discussion to the forner and did not address



devi ce- maki ng equi pnment . ld. at 417-18. In this respect, its
decision, like that of the court in Ashe, offers no assistance in
appl ying the | anguage of 8§ 1029(a)(4).

We concl ude that Morris's tunbling cellular phone was desi gned
and used primarily to make calls, and cannot reasonably be defined
as devi ce-maki ng equi pnent. We therefore find that the neaning of
8§ 1029(a)(4) cannot be stretched to crimnalize the phone's sale.

Moreover, even if the governnment had chosen to prosecute
Morris under another section of § 1029, we are not convinced that
the statute as then witten can be interpreted to reach the
admttedly illegitimte conduct of free riding on a cellular phone
system Oher circuits have disagreed on this very issue. Conpare
United States v. Brady, 13 F.3d 334, 340 (10th Cr.1993) (finding
that a tunbling cellular phone is not an access device because it
does not access an identifiable account) with Ashe, 47 F.3d at 774
(di sagreeing with Brady and finding that the governnent nust only
prove theft of services) and Bailey, 41 F.3d at 418-19 (di sagreei ng
with Brady and finding that contract between |ocal and |ong
di stance carriers is an account for the purposes of the statute).

W believe that the Brady court's interpretation of §
1029(a)(4) as applicable only to those devices which access an
i ndi vi dual account, such as a credit card or a long distance
calling card, is the nore sound in light of Congress's intent to
address fraud in the credit area. See H R Rep. No. 894, 098th
Cong., 2d Sess. 4 (1984), reprinted in 1984 U.S.C.C. A N 3689, 3690
(citing credit and bank card fraud and abuse as purpose of

| egi sl ation). As noted by the Tenth Grcuit, expanding 8 1029



beyond t hose i nstances in which an identifiable account is accessed
woul d "turn 8 1029 into a general theft statute applicabl e whenever
a conpany can docunent a |loss through fraud."” Brady, 13 F.3d at
340.

O course, in light of Congress's decision to amend 8§ 1029 in
1994 to crimnalize specifically conduct such as Mrris's,
interpretation of the original statute, and our disagreenent with
the Sixth and Ninth Circuits over this interpretation, is of
[imted inport. Wile the 1994 anendnent arguably provi des further
support for Brady's narrower reading of § 1029, its primry
significance here stenms from the fact it wll soon render
unnecessary inquiries |like the one presented by this case.

CONCLUSI ON
In accordance with our reasoning above, we REVERSE Morris's

convi ction under 8§ 1029(a)(4).



